Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-23-2014

Cable One v. Idaho State Tax Commission Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41305

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a case of first impression concerning the proper calculation of Idaho income tax owed by a multistate corporation. Appellant Cable One, Inc. ("Cable One") is headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona and operates 45 cable systems providing cable television, voice, and high-speed Internet access services in 18 states, including Idaho.¹ This appeal relates solely to the Internet access services that Cable One provides ancillary to its cable television business in Idaho. The District Court below held that income from the sale of these Internet access services should be included when calculating the Idaho income tax owed by Cable One, despite the fact that the overwhelming majority of the costs of providing such services were incurred outside of Idaho – specifically, at Cable One's headquarters in Arizona. This decision was incorrect and must be reversed.

Idaho courts have yet to issue definitive decisions interpreting the "costs of performance" language of Idaho Code § 63-3027(r) and the related administrative rules at issue here. Allowing the District Court's decision to stand would be detrimental not just to Cable One, but to the larger group of multistate businesses that also are Idaho taxpayers and depend upon some clarity and consistency in the law's application when calculating and submitting their yearly income tax payments and making economic decisions about investments in this State. Given the double-weighting of the sales factor in Idaho's statutory formula and the ever-growing numbers of companies employing a multistate or even a multinational infrastructure, the disputed issues here are both significant and likely to recur.

Cable One's operations previously consisted of 48 cable systems in 19 states.

The Uniform Division of Income for Tax Purposes Act ("UDITPA") is a model statute that has been adopted by numerous states, including Idaho, in order to promote "uniformity or compatibility in significant components of tax systems" across jurisdictions. I.C. § 63-3701. See Albertson's, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Revenue, State Tax Comm'n, 106 Idaho 810, 811, 683 P.2d 846, 847 (1984). UDITPA "contains rules for determining the portion of a corporation's total income from a multistate business which is attributable to this state and therefore subject to Idaho's income tax." Albertson's, 106 Idaho at 811, 683 P.2d at 847. Idaho's codification of UDITPA's provisions relating to a multistate corporation transacting business both inside and outside of the state is found in Idaho Code § 63-3027.

Idaho Code § 63-3027(b) provides that as a taxpayer "having income from business activity which is taxable both within and without this state," Cable One "shall allocate and apportion such net income" according to a formula set forth in § 63-3027(i), which consists of a payroll factor, a property factor, and a double-weighted sales factor. Like the other two factors, "[t]he sales factor is a fraction, the numerator of which is the total sales of the taxpayer in this state during the tax period, and the denominator of which is the total sales of the taxpayer everywhere during the tax period." § 63-3027(p). Cable One's Idaho business income tax liability is determined by an average of the property, payroll and sales factors (double-weighting the sales factor). That calculation yields an apportionment percentage; the apportionment percentage is applied to Cable One's total business income everywhere to determine the percentage of it which may be taxed by Idaho.

There is no dispute over Cable One's computation of its 2005 property and payroll factors in Idaho, nor over its income tax liability attributable to its sales of cable television service, sales of advertising, and leasing of cable modems. The income-producing activity at

issue in this case is Cable One's provision of Internet access services during taxable year 2005. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 49, lines 20-25) The primary question on appeal is whether Cable One was required to include the sales revenue generated by providing Internet access services to Idaho residents when calculating the Idaho sales factor. The answer to this question is "no."

Idaho Code § 63-3027(r), the key provision at issue in this case, provides that if a greater proportion of the taxpayer's income-producing activity (based on costs of performance, measured by direct costs) occurs outside of Idaho, then the related sales receipts are not to be included in the sales factor numerator. I.C. § 63-3027(r); IDAPA 35.01.01.550.² Based on costs of performance, a greater proportion of Cable One's 2005 income-producing activity in providing Internet access services was performed outside Idaho than in Idaho. The District Court erred when it found otherwise.

The District Court seems to have been driven largely by considerations of what might "fairly represent" Cable One's business activity in Idaho in this particular case. (Conc. of Law 19-20, R. 000344) The Tax Commission likewise has promoted its own view as to a fair representation of Cable One's business activity in Idaho. But "[w]hen construing the provisions of the Idaho Income Tax Code, [this Court] must enforce the law as written." *Idaho State Tax Comm'n v. Stang*, 135 Idaho 800, 802, 25 P.3d 113, 115 (2001). The Idaho Legislature chose, through enacting UDITPA, to join other states in promoting uniformity and to base Idaho's taxation of a multistate corporation's income-producing activity performed both inside and outside the state on a costs of performance analysis. This is the law that must be applied. "If the provisions of the tax code are socially or economically unsound, the power to correct it is legislative, not judicial." *Id.* at 803, 25 P.3d at 116. The Tax Commission is not free to re-write

² IDAPA references are to the 2005 Idaho Administrative Code, as was used by the District Court below. (R. 000063)

or disregard the law to suit its own policy agenda or perceptions of "fairness."

Also at issue on this appeal are the alternative apportionment provisions of UDITPA found in Idaho Code § 63-3027(s), which apply only where their proponent overcomes the "very strong presumption in favor of the normal three-factor apportionment," *Union Pacific Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n*, 139 Idaho 572, 576, 83 P.3d 116, 120 (2004). For the reasons set forth below, Cable One submits that this Court should find alternative apportionment pursuant to I.C. § 63-3027(s) inapplicable as a matter of law on these facts.

This Court should reverse the decision of the District Court.

B. Course of Proceedings

For tax year 2005, Cable One's Idaho income taxes were ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. (Trial Exhibit 2 at line 38)

After conducting an audit of Cable One's Idaho income tax return for tax year 2005, on December 16, 2008, the Income Tax Audit Bureau of the Tax Commission issued its initial Notice of Deficiency Determination asserting a tax and interest deficiency for taxable year 2005 of ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. (R. 000016) On December 22, 2009, the Notice of Deficiency Determination against Cable One was modified by lowering the taxes owed, but the overall deficiency increased because of interest to ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. (R. 000016-17)

On February 1, 2010, Cable One filed a Petition for Redetermination with the Tax Commission. (R. 000201) On November 18, 2010, the Tax Commission issued its decision

Due to various Idaho tax credits enacted to encourage business activity beneficial to Idaho consumers, this tax liability was reduced. This subsequent application of any such tax credits, however, is irrelevant to the question of the proper calculation of Cable One's tax liability in the first instance.

affirming the modified Notice of Deficiency Determination. (R. 000202) Cable One appealed the Tax Commission's decision to the District Court pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-3049, contesting (1) the decision's finding that Cable One's Internet access services income for taxable year 2005 should be included in the Idaho sales factor numerator when calculating Idaho income taxes owed by Cable One for taxable year 2005, and (2) the decision's assertion that an alternative apportionment method under Idaho Code § 63-3027(s) may be used to determine Cable One's income tax liability. (R. 000030-31)

The case was assigned to the Honorable James F. Judd. After a de novo bench trial, on May 22, 2013, Judge Judd issued his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order determining that Cable One's Internet access services revenue should have been included in calculating its Idaho sales factor. (Conc. of Law 19, 20, R. 000344) The District Court therefore did not need to decide, and did not address, whether an alternative apportionment method under Idaho Code § 63-3027(s) may be used to determine Cable One's income tax liability. (Conc. of Law 21, R. 000345) On July 2, 2013, Judge Judd issued a Judgment finding that Cable One owed an additional ***START **CONFIDENTIAL***** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** for taxable year 2005. (R. 000125) Cable One timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 9, 2013. (R. 000127) On August 12, 2013, Judge Judd issued an Amended Judgment including costs for a total amount of ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. (R. 000136)

C. Statement of Facts

Cable One, a Delaware corporation headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona, operated 48 cable systems in 19 states pursuant to local franchise agreements. (Joint Stip. of Exhibits and Facts, R. 000279) Six of those cable systems are located in Idaho. (Joint Stip. of Exhibits and Facts, R.

000279) Cable One acquired its Idaho cable systems in 2001. (Joint Stip. of Exhibits and Facts, R. 000279; Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 40, lines 14-16)

Cable One provides its Internet access services through its cable television broadband network, which is used primarily to provide cable television services. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 40, lines 10-13, 22-25) It operates no stand-alone network dedicated specifically to Internet access services. *See* Hannan Dep. Tr. (Trial Exhibit 26) at p. 22, lines 17-20. Cable One received business income from four types of income-producing activities in Idaho in 2005: cable television services, Internet access services, advertising services, and cable modem leasing. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 40, lines 2-9) There is no dispute over Cable One's computation of its 2005 property and payroll factors, nor over computation of the sales factor attributable to its sales of cable television service, sales of advertising, and leasing of cable modems. The only issue in this case is the sales factor as respects Cable One's Internet access services revenues. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 49, lines 20-25)

Cable One's provision of Internet access services in 2005 was performed both in and outside of Idaho. Within Idaho, Cable One maintained local offices and employees in order to provide and maintain its cable system and Internet access services. (Trial Exhibit 21; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty⁴ ¶12, R. 000171; Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 263, lines 9-12) Outside of Idaho, Cable One maintained a Solution Center and a network operations center ("NOC") in Arizona. These facilities supported the provision of cable television and Internet access services to all of the states in which Cable One operated its cable systems. (Joint Stip. of Exhibits and Facts ¶9, R. 000280) The Solution Center provided technical and customer support for cable television and Internet access services customers and the NOC monitored the overall health of Cable One's 48

The Dolohanty affidavit was also used as Trial Exhibit 12.

cable systems. (Joint Stip. of Exhibits and Facts ¶9, R. 000280; Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 263, lines 5-25; p. 264, lines 1-2)

Cable One also purchased long distance communications services known as Internet backbone services from third-party vendors, Qwest and AT&T, to support its multistate provision of Internet access services. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 273, lines 24-25; p. 274, lines 1-9; Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley⁵ ¶6, R. 000161) These long distance communications services were used to route and deliver Cable One's Internet access services traffic from Cable One's cable systems in various states to Cable One's Arizona headquarters to obtain broadband features and functions needed for the use of Internet access services and to connect with the public Internet (world wide web). (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 314, lines 4-15; Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley ¶7, R. 000161) Indeed, Cable One could not offer Internet access services in any state without the connection to its Arizona headquarters, which is facilitated by the backbone services. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 269, lines 13-24)

These backbone services were also a critical component of Cable One's own internal administrative and operational communications between the 48 cable systems and the public Internet and Cable One's Arizona headquarters. (Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley ¶10, R. 000162) They provided Cable One's customers with billing support, customer service support, and network monitoring for cable television services, and have been necessary even if Cable One did not offer Internet access services. (Tr. Feb 25/26, p. 79, lines 7-24; Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley ¶10, 14, R. 000162, 64)

These Internet backbone services were provided under contracts negotiated from Cable One's Arizona headquarters, were purchased from Cable One's Arizona headquarters, were

Ottley's affidavit was also used as Trial Exhibit 31.

billed to Cable One's Arizona headquarters, and were paid from Cable One's Arizona headquarters. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 79, lines 3-6; Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley ¶13, R. 000163) These backbone services are not specific to Idaho, but rather the services are purchased for all states in which Cable One operates pursuant to a single contract with each vendor that covers multiple states. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 274, lines 4-9; Qwest Agreement (Trial Exhibit 28); AT&T Agreement (Trial Exhibit 29)) Because the Internet backbone services were an essential component of Cable One's overall operations in its 19-state territory, Cable One's employees located in Arizona centrally managed and oversaw the purchase, implementation, billing and payment relating to the Internet backbone services. (Aff. of Bradley D. Ottley ¶14, R. 000164)

Cable One in 2005 computed its Idaho taxable income in accordance with Idaho Code § 63-3027. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 49, lines 8-19) As noted above, the statute requires an analysis of the costs of performance, because only the direct costs incurred to provide the income producing activity – Internet access services in this case – are included to determine if a greater proportion of the income producing activity was performed in Idaho or outside of Idaho. Idaho Code § 63-3027(r)(2). Cable One analyzed its costs of performance related to its provision of Internet access services using two different methods. (Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶11, R. 000170) Both methods were based on Cable One's regular accounting practices used in the day-to-day operation of its business. See IDAPA Rule 35.01.01.550.03 ("Costs of performance are the direct costs determined according to generally accepted accounting principles and accepted conditions or practices of the taxpayer's trade or business."). First, Cable One identified its total direct costs associated with the provision of Internet access services as reflected under the "Internet Costs" header on its profit and loss statement for its Idaho cable systems. (Tr. Feb.

25/26, p. 91, lines 11-25; p. 92, lines 1-6; Trial Exhibit 86; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶12, R. 000170-71) This figure included costs incurred both inside and outside of Idaho. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 77, lines 8-17; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶12, R. 000171) Slightly more than one third of the total ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** related to the employees supporting the Internet access services in Idaho and the operation of Cable One's offices physically located in Idaho. (Trial Exhibit 8: Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶12, R. 000171) All the other direct costs on the profit and loss statement were incurred in Arizona. including the cost of the Solution Center and NOC ***START CONFIDENTIAL *** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***, and the Internet backbone services ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. (Trial Exhibit 8; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶12, R. 000171) Under this analysis, Cable One found that ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** of its direct costs were incurred Idaho, while ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** of them were incurred in Arizona. (Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶12, R. 000171) As an alternative method, Cable One looked at its total direct costs related to the provision of Internet access services as reported on its consolidated profit and loss statements for all of its 48 cable systems in 19 states. (Tr. Feb 25/26, p. 92, lines 7-25; p. 93, lines 1-11; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶14, R. 000172) Those costs totaled ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL***. Cable One subtracted from that figure ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** in direct local costs incurred in the various cable systems (including the Idaho systems), yielding a sum of ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** in direct costs incurred in

Trial Exhibit 8 is a summary of information contained in Exhibits 6 and 7. (Tr. Feb. 25/26, p. 90, lines 7-23)

Arizona for its provision of multistate Internet access services. (Trial Exhibit 8; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶14, R. 000172) Cable One then allocated the direct costs incurred in Arizona across the 19 states where it provides such services, based on the percentage of Internet access services revenues Cable One earned in each state as compared to its total revenues from Internet access services across all 19 states. (Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶15, R. 000172) Based on this calculation, ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** of Cable One's direct costs for the provision of Internet access services allocable to Idaho were incurred in Arizona, while ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** were incurred in Idaho. (Trial Exhibit 8; Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶15, R. 000172-73) Under this analysis, ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** were incurred in Arizona. (Aff. of Patrick Dolohanty ¶15, R. 000173)

Therefore, in determining the sales factor pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-3027(r), Cable One did not include revenues from its sales of Internet access services in the numerator because Cable One's costs of performance analyses demonstrated that Cable One incurred more direct costs, such as the Solution Center, NOC, and Internet backbone services, outside of Idaho (in Arizona) than in Idaho in relation to its provision of Internet access services. Cable One also did not include capital costs or depreciation associated with its cable television broadband network because those are not considered direct costs associated with the provision of Internet access services. (Tr. Feb 25/26, p. 108, lines 21-25; p. 109, lines 1-25)

Under Cable One's calculation excluding the income from sale of Internet access services, ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** of its

2005 nationwide business income is taxable in Idaho. The treatment of the sales factor endorsed by the Tax Commission would render ***START CONFIDENTIAL*** [Redacted] ***END CONFIDENTIAL*** of Cable One's nationwide business income taxable in Idaho. (Findings of Fact 29-30, R. 000340)

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

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