## UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-20-2014

## Cable One v. Idaho State Tax Commission Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41305

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

## II. ARGUMENT

## A. Applicable Law

Idaho Code § 63-3027(p) explains that "the sales factor is a fraction, the numerator of which is the total sales of the taxpayer in [Idaho] during the tax period." Idaho Code § 63-3027(r) instructs that sales, that are not sales of tangible personal property, are "in Idaho" if "the income-producing activity is performed both inside and outside this state and a greater proportion of the incomeproducing activity is performed in this state than in any other state, based on costs of performance."

IDAPA 35.01.01.550.02 instructs that "the term income producing activity applies to each separate item of income and means the transactions and activity directly engaged in by the taxpayer in the regular course of its trade or business for the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profit."

The goal of the statute is to determine where, geographically, the income-producing activity was performed, if more of the income-producing activity was performed in Idaho than in any other state, the sales generated by that income-producing activity are considered to be Idaho sales which are included in the Idaho sales numerator. The "costs of performance" method is the tool for measuring and assigning weight to the various components of the income-producing activity.

IDAPA 35.01.01.550.03 states, "costs of performance are the direct costs determined according to generally accepted accounting principles and accepted conditions or practices of the taxpayer's trade or business."

Thus, the steps in the analysis are:

- 1. Identify the income-producing activity.
- 2. Identify the direct costs of performing the income-producing activity.

3. Identify where, geographically, the activities giving rise to these costs were performed.

### B. Cable One's income-producing activity: providing Internet access to Idaho customers.

The district court correctly identified Cable One's income-producing activity at issue: providing Internet access to Idaho customers. Idaho law does not support the "operational approach" advocated by Cable One in its brief to this Court (i.e. that Cable One's income-producing activity is the overall operation of providing Internet access services in 19 states).

## 1. Identifying the income-producing activity: the "transactional" approach

Idaho law requires a focus on "each separate item of income" and an analysis of the transactions and activities engaged in by the taxpayer to produce those gains; as opposed to the high level "operational" focus that Cable One advocates in its brief to this Court.<sup>3</sup> IDAPA 35.01.01.550.02 instructs that "the term income producing activity applies to each separate item of income and means the transactions and activity directly engaged in by the taxpayer in the regular course of its trade or business for the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profit." The question, then, is what is the income producing activity (or activities) that produced the **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of sales revenue which is at issue in this case?

IDAPA 35.01.01.550.02 says that "the term income producing activity applies to each separate item of income..." The separate items of income that add up to the total **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of sales revenue, are each of the monthly payments received from each of the Idaho Internet access customers in 2005. Mr. Dolohanty testified that the **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Cable One asserts in its brief to this Court, "The regular course of [Cable One's] business includes no separate income-producing activity of 'attracting and servicing Idaho Internet access customers.' The income-producing activity is the provision of Internet access services in nineteen states." Appellant's Opening Brief, pgs. 15-16.

Idaho customers. *See* Tr. Feb. 27, pgs. 117:10-119:3. The language of the rule requires a costs of performance analysis to examine the activities and costs that were required to produce each monthly payment from each customer. However, given the facts of this case, the activities (and the costs of those activities) required to provide Internet access and produce the monthly payments from Idaho customers in 2005 appear to be consistent for all the monthly payments from all the Idaho customers throughout the year. So whether the costs of performance analysis is conducted looking at all the Idaho customer's monthly payments taken as a whole, or looking at them individually, the result is the same in this case.<sup>4</sup>

The district court agreed that "A literal reading of the IDAPA Rule 35.01.01.550.02 definition of 'income producing activity' would require a transactional analysis of the cost of performance for Cable One receiving each Idaho customer's monthly payment for Internet access;" but agreed with the Commission that it was appropriate, in this case, "to conduct the costs of performance analysis on Cable One's provision of Internet access to all Idaho customers in 2005 taken as a group." Conc. of Law 10 (R. 000342-000343). Thus, there are numerous income-producing activities in this case that produced the **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of sales revenue at issue; those income-producing activities are the transactions and activities engaged in by Cable One to ensure that each of their Idaho customers would make each of their monthly payments for Internet access service throughout the 2005 taxable year. However, as suggested by the Commission, and agreed upon by the district court, one costs of performance analysis could be performed in this case focusing on the provision of Internet access service to Idaho customers in 2005 taken as a whole; this one costs of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under a different factual circumstance, where the activities (and costs of the activities) varied for each separate item of income, Idaho law would require the costs of performance analysis to be done at a level of granularity that focuses on each separate item of income by itself.

performance analysis provided the same result that would have been produced by performing a costs of performance analysis on each separate item of income.

IDAPA 35.01.01.550.02 instructs that "the term income producing activity... means the transactions and activity directly engaged in by the taxpayer in the regular course of its trade or business for the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profit." The transactions and activities Cable One engaged in to provide Internet access to Idaho customers include: (1) a portion of the activities of the Network Operations Center and Solutions Center at Cable One headquarters in Phoenix; (2) the activities of Cable One employees and local offices located in Idaho; (3) the activities/transactions with Qwest and AT&T for the ongoing provision of Internet backbone service at Cable One's Idaho headend facilities, and (4) the activities of constructing and maintaining Cable One's Idaho broadband network systems, which are required to deliver Internet access service to customer's homes. *See* See Stipulated facts 6-9, 13, 14, 15 (R. 000280-000282); also *see* Tr. Feb. 25/26, pgs, 71:7-72:24, 78:5-13, 81:7-82:20, 227:2-5, 240:8-15, 262:25-265:20, 313:15-320:21.

Thus, Cable One's income producing activity, that produced the **\*\*\*START** CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* [Redacted] **\*\*\*END** CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* of sales revenue at issue in this case, is the combination of the four activities identified above that were required to provide Internet access service to Idaho customers so as to ensure those customers would continue to make their monthly payments that totaled **\*\*\*START** CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* [Redacted] **\*\*\*END** CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* in 2005.

# 2. Idaho law does not provide the possibility for an "operational approach" to identifying the income-producing activity; Cable One errs by citing Massachusetts case law to support this approach.

Cable One cites the Massachusetts AT&T case for support of the "operational approach" (i.e. that Cable One's income-producing activity is the overall operation of providing Internet access

services in 19 states). The Appeals Court of Massachusetts upheld the Appellate Tax Board's holding that "it was the operation of [AT&T's] global network based in New Jersey that qualified as its income-producing activity." *Comm'r of Revenue v. AT&T Corp.*, 82 Mass. App. Ct. 1106, 970 N.E.2d 814 review denied, 463 Mass. 1112, 979 N.E.2d 224 (2012). However, the definition of "income-producing activity" in Massachusetts has significant differences from Idaho's definition. Massachusetts definition is as follows:

For purposes of 830 CMR 63.38.1(9)(d)2., an income-producing activity is a transaction, procedure, or operation directly engaged in by a taxpayer which results in a separately identifiable item of income.

830 Mass. Code Regs. 63.38.1. Whereas, Idaho's definition states:

The term income producing activity applies to each separate item of income and means the transactions and activity directly engaged in by the taxpayer in the regular course of its trade or business for the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profit.

IDAPA 35.01.01.550.02. The Massachusetts definition contains the words "or operation," which

appears to have been the key to its courts concluding that the "operational approach" to identifying

the income-producing activity should be used in the AT&T case. Their Appellate Tax Board

analyzed as follows (and emphasized the word "operation" with bold print in its decision):

The regulation might appear to offer a choice between a transaction or a procedure or an operation. However, it does not offer a choice. Instead, the statute requires a determination of the correct income-producing activity, based on a close analysis of the particular facts presented.

\*\*\*\*

The Board thus found and ruled that, in accordance with the statute and the regulations, AT&T's income-producing activity was its operation of its global network. This finding:

fits comfortably within the text of the regulation that states that "an income-producing activity is a transaction, procedure, or **operation** directly engaged in by a taxpayer which results in a separately identifiable item of income".... [quoting 830 CMR § 63.38.1 (9)(d)(2)(emphasis provided by Supreme Judicial Court)].

AT&T Corp. v. Comm'r of Revenue, C293831, 2011 WL 2243933 (Mass. App. Tax. Bd. June 8, 2011) aff'd, 82 Mass. App. Ct. 1106, 970 N.E.2d 814 (2012).

Idaho provides one specific "transactional approach" for identifying the income-producing activity, as opposed to the Massachusetts definition that provides the possibility for the incomeproducing activity to be "a transaction or a procedure or an operation." Under Idaho law, the term income-producing activity "applies to each separate item of income" and it "means the transactions and activity" engaged in to produce those gains; there is no possibility provided in the Idaho definition for the income-producing activity to be the taxpayer's entire operation of a line of business. The Idaho analysis starts by identifying a separate item of income and then asks, "what transactions and activities did the taxpayer engage in to produce the identified gain?" Cable One's vice president testified that the **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of sales revenue at issue in this case was received in the form of monthly payments from Idaho customers; thus the separate items of income in this case are each of the monthly payments from each of the Idaho customers. *See* Tr. Feb. 27, pgs. 117:10-119:3.

## C. The direct costs of providing Internet access service to Idaho customers.

## 1. The direct costs of consequence were stipulated to in this case, leaving the court with very little to address regarding direct costs.

For the most part, the parties stipulated to the direct costs in this case; the only dispute was whether some portion of the costs of installing and maintaining the Idaho network systems should be included as a direct cost of providing Internet access to Idaho customers.

Cable One calculated that **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of the 2005 Solution Center and Networks Operations costs were incurred to support and provide Internet access in Idaho. *See* Stipulated facts 14 (R. 000281). In 2005, Cable One incurred **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END**  **CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of costs for the activities of Cable One employees and local offices located in Idaho. *See* Stipulated facts 13 (R. 000281). The total cost for AT&T and Qwest to provide the Internet backbone service at all six of the Idaho system headends in 2005 was **\*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** [Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** *See* Stipulated facts 15 (R. 000282). The Tax Commission did not (and still does not) dispute that these three amounts were direct costs of providing Internet access in Idaho during 2005.

Some portion of the costs of building and maintaining Cable One's Idaho network should also be included as direct costs of providing Internet to Idaho customers. Cable One only included the three cost amounts, identified in the preceding paragraph, as the total "direct costs" of providing Internet access in Idaho in 2005. *See* Affidavit of Patrick A. Dolohanty (trial exhibit 12) pg. 4; also *see* Summary of Cable One's Direct Costs (trial exhibit 8). Cable One did not include any portion of the costs arising out of the activities of constructing and maintaining Cable One's Idaho broadband network systems, which are required to deliver Internet access service to customer's homes. Both Mr. Hannan and Mr. Ottley testified about how the Idaho networks are used to deliver Internet access to the homes of Idaho customers. *See* Tr. Feb. 25/26, pgs. 187:4-188:1, 236:5-240:15. Mr. Starkey also identified all the portions of Cable One's network that were required to provide Internet access to Idaho customers. *See* Tr. Feb. 27, pgs. 37:6-39:22. Mr. Fischer testified, regarding the Idaho networks, that:

[T]here are costs that can be traced to the high speed internet service. You can trace some sort of capacity that's dedicated to providing that service. So that's the portion that should be considered a direct cost of the service.

See Tr. Feb. 25/26, pgs. 398:7-22. Mr. Starkey explained that Cable One had identified some specific traceable amount of the Idaho network that was dedicated solely to providing "high speed data" (a.k.a. Internet access); the specific traceable amount was represented by the "yellow

dot" in trial exhibit 22, which was prepared by Cable One. See Tr. Feb. 27, pgs. 39:17-22. Using the information provided by Cable One, Mr. Starkey suggested that a reasonable amount of network costs to include in the costs of performance analysis would be somewhere in the range of \*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* [Redacted] \*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* to \*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* [Redacted] \*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\* See Supplemental Expert Report of Michael Starkey (trial exhibit 11) at TC 004614-004620.<sup>5</sup>

Because the three major identified direct costs were stipulated to, the district court was not tasked with engaging in a significant amount of analysis about the definition of direct costs or the question of what were the direct costs in this case. The court simply held that "Although the term 'direct costs' is defined by neither Idaho law nor by any of the standard methods of accounting, the above regulations read together indicate that direct costs include the costs incurred by Cable One in providing internet services to its Idaho customers." Conc. of Law 9 (R. 000342). Taking into account the testimony presented at trial, the court held that a portion of the Idaho cable network capital improvement costs should be included as "Idaho costs" in the costs of performance analysis. Conc. of Law 12, 13 (R. 000343).

## 2. Cable One's assertion that the district court failed to conduct the required direct costs analysis is unfounded.

Cable One incorrectly criticizes the district court for "failing to conduct the required direct cost analysis," suggesting that the court's decision "contained no analysis actually addressing the question of what are the direct costs," and asserting that the district court's decision "presupposes the answer to one of the areas of greatest dispute in this case." *See* Appellant's Opening Brief, pgs. 19-20. As explained above, Cable One initially set forth its own costs of performance analysis,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The district court ended up using its own calculations to come up with **\*\*\***START CONFIDENTIAL **\*\*\***[Redacted] **\*\*\*END CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*** of network costs to be included in the costs of performance analysis. Find, of Fact 12-13 (R. 000343).

# which identified three categories of direct costs incurred to provide Internet access to Idaho customers: \*\*\*START CONFIDENTIAL\*\*\*

[Redacted]

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